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To: 

From: 

Carol Spahn, Chief Executive Officer          
Emily Haimowitz, Chief Compliance Officer 

Joaquin Ferrao, Acting Inspector General

 June 29, 2022Date:

Subject: Management Advisory Report: Peace Corps/  Medical Case Review (IG-22-03-
SR) 

The purpose of this report is to bring to your attention needed improvements that the Office of 
Inspector General identified in the provision of medical care to Volunteers. 

Our report makes five recommendations to improve the agency’s actions regarding quality of 
care, clinical escalation, facility assessments, clinical documentation, and patient safety event 
reporting. The agency response to the report will be included in Appendix A.

Background 
On , returned Peace Corps Volunteer (RPCV) , reported concerns 
to Peace Corps Office of Inspector General (OIG) regarding the quality of the medical care
received while serving in Peace Corps/  from 2016-2018. In February 2021, OIG initiated 
a review of RPCV  medical care. This review was conducted as a collaboration 
between OIG’s Evaluation and Investigation Units. This Management Advisory Report 
represents the evaluative portion of the review.   

Timeline of Events 
RPCV  started  service in  on . On May 31, 2017, received an
ultrasound during which the radiologist discovered a right ovarian cyst1. RPCV  had a 
gynecological consult on June 1, 2017, and the local provider prescribed  medication but did 
not document recommending follow-up ultrasounds. According to RPCV , during the 
close of service ceremony in late May 2018,  reported sharp abdominal pain (7 out of 10) and 
nausea to the Peace Corps Medical Officer (PCMO). The Peace Corps’ medical record contains a 
note that, during a phone call, RPCV  reported abdominal pain to the PCMO on June 6, 
2018, and that a pelvic ultrasound was scheduled for June 16, 2018.  According to RPCV 

 in late June 2018,  again reported acute abdominal pain (8 or 9 out of 10) to the 
PCMO and was reportedly told that  could see a specialist once  went to  for 

, which was scheduled for August 2018. According to the PCMO, RPCV  did 
not want to come back to the capital for the follow-up ultrasound because  pain level did not 
warrant the trip, though this was not reflected in RPCV  medical record. RPCV 

1 RPCV  cyst was identified as being multiloculated with thick walls 
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The PCMO did not escalate RPCV  case in accordance with Peace Corps medical 
technical guidelines 

The Peace Corps’ Clinical Escalation Policy (TG 212) requires PCMOs to consult with the 
Regional Medical Officer for any condition likely to require emergency surgery or 
hospitalization. According to UpToDate,5 patients with ovarian cysts are at risk for torsion of the 
ovary or fallopian tube, which requires urgent surgical intervention. We found that the PCMO 
who treated RPCV  should have escalated RPCV  condition earlier to the 
RMO. The PCMO escalated the case to OHS on the day of the surgery, but not when RPCV 

 reported pain two months before the medical emergency occurred. The OHS staff we 
interviewed reported that RPCV  case should have been escalated when  reported 
pain, because it could have indicated an ovarian torsion. We determined that the PCMO was not 
fully aware of Peace Corps’ escalation policy, telling OIG that even though RPCV  
reported pain it was not to a point that  thought it required escalation.  Had the PCMO 
consulted with the RMO, the need to conduct a follow-up ultrasound might have been 
emphasized.  As we explained in the previous finding, had the standard of care been followed, a 
follow-up ultrasound after RPCV  reported pain might have shown a large ovarian cyst, 
and removal in  or another country could have been considered.    

We recommend: 

2. That OHS improve implementation of and PCMOs’ awareness of the 
clinical escalation policy. 

RPCV  had surgery in a facility that had not been assessed according to the policy 
because OHS’s oversight of the post was ineffective 

According to TG 204, the PCMO will visit and assess all hospitals, clinics and private doctors 
that have been selected to provide care to Volunteers a minimum of once every three years. We 
found the PCMOs in Peace Corps/  never visited or assessed the facility where RPCV 

 had surgery on August 11, 2018 prior to  surgery. We determined that OHS’s 
oversight of medical resource assessments in Peace Corps/  was ineffective because their 
process did not result in corrective action. OHS conducted an in-country assessment of the health 
unit in  in  and found that local medical resources were in the process of being 
reassessed. However, three years later in  when OHS conducted another in-country 
assessment, staff had still not completed their assessments of local medical resources according 
to the policy.  Given the requirement to assess facilities once every three years, the facility where 

 had emergency surgery in 2018 should have been assessed at least once between OHS’s 
2016 and 2019 assessments. Consequently, Peace Corps staff subjected RPCV  to 

 
5 Management of an adnexal mass, 1/13/2020. 
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unnecessary risk because they had not predetermined where  could go for surgery while  
was experiencing a medical emergency.    

We recommend: 

3. That OHS develop a process to ensure recommendations from their
health unit assessments are addressed.

The PCMO did not follow agency guidelines when documenting RPCV  case 

Peace Corps’ medical technical guideline on clinical documentation (TG 113) stated that all 
routine patient encounters must address unresolved problems from previous visits. The PCMO 
recorded RPCV  need for a follow-up ultrasound during a phone consult on June 6, 
2018, but the ultrasound was not conducted. The PCMO had two subsequent encounters with 
RPCV  but RPCV  medical record does not include any documentation from 
those encounters that confirms the PCMO raised the need for a follow-up ultrasound to RPCV 

 or explains why the follow-up ultrasound was not completed.  

According to TG 113, the PCMO Support Unit periodically reviewed a sample of charts from 
new PCMOs and scored them for completeness. The guideline stated that scores below 90 
percent do not meet the standard. At the time, the guideline stated that a PCMO may be placed 
on remediation for scoring below the standard, but this was not required. We reviewed the chart 
review scores for the new PCMO who treated RPCV  who was hired in , 
and found that only one of the chart review scores met the standard in the first half of 2018. We 
determined that Peace Corps’ policy did not provide sufficient controls for new PCMOs who did 
not meet Peace Corps’ clinical documentation standards.  

If Peace Corps policy had included sufficient clinical oversight for new PCMOs who did not 
meet the agency’s clinical documentation standards, RPCV  ultrasound might not have 
been missed. As noted above, had the pelvic ultrasound recommended by the PCMO on June 6, 
2018 been completed, it might have shown a large ovarian cyst, and removal in  or 
another country could have been considered before RPCV  experienced a medical 
emergency.  

We recommend: 

4. That OHS update the clinical documentation review guidelines to
increase controls on new PCMOs who do not meet clinical documentation
standards.
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OHS did not identify and report deficiencies in care that the PCMO provided to RPCV 
  

The Peace Corps’ medical technical guideline 167 describes the process for reporting and 
investigating a patient safety event, which is an event that could have or did result in harm to a 
patient, including a deviation from the standard of care. The guideline states that the staff 
member who identifies an event is responsible for reporting the event to OHS’s quality 
improvement unit. We established in a previous finding, that the PCMO deviated from the 
standard of care in RPCV  case by not conducting follow-up ultrasounds to monitor the 
cyst; however, this was not reported as a patient safety event even though OHS reviewed  
case on multiple occasions.   

We determined that RPCV  case was not reported as a patient safety event because 
Peace Corps’ patient safety event reporting process was ineffectively implemented. This is not 
the first time that OIG identified issues surrounding Peace Corps’ patient safety policy. In 2016, 
OIG found that Peace Corps’ patient safety policy was not effectively implemented.6 The Peace 
Corps reported two patient safety events pertaining to RPCV  surgery; however, both 
related to local providers as opposed to the care that the Peace Corps provided to RPCV  
Although OHS reviewed RPCV  case on numerous occasions following  surgery, 
they failed to identify a clear patient safety event when the PCMO did not follow-up on the 
ultrasounds that RPCV  required, according to the standard of care. If Peace Corps staff 
were appropriately focused on proactively identifying and reporting patient safety events, the 
PCMO’s deviation from the standard of care should have been reported and addressed. By not 
identifying the patient safety event, the quality improvement unit was not able to make 
recommendations for improvement that might prevent similar issues from occurring in the 
future.  

We recommend: 

5. That OHS improve identification and reporting of patient safety events.

Conclusion 
OIG’s review of the medical care provided to RPCV  highlighted several systemic issues 
in Peace Corps’ implementation of their policies which ultimately contributed in RPCV  
not receiving the follow up medical care that  needed. Follow up medical care was 
particularly important in a country such as  The lack of high-quality medical services in 

 posed a risk to Volunteer health in the event of a medical emergency, such as the one 

6 Follow-Up Evaluation of Issues Identified in the 2010 Peace Corps/Morocco Assessment of Medical Care pg. 14 
(patient safety was formerly called sentinel events). 
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RPCV  experienced. Our review includes five findings and recommendations which if 
implemented, should improve future provision of medical care to Volunteers.  

cc: Victor Sloan, Associate Director, Office of Health Services 
James Golden, Deputy Director, Office of Health Services 
Sam Stebbins, Medical Director, Office of Health Services 
Donna Richmond, Chief Quality Improvement Officer, Office of Health Services 
Dave Noble, Chief of Staff 
Kristin Wells, General Counsel 

, Expert Advisor to the Chief Compliance Officer 
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